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1. Name of Property 

historic name TufNut Historic District 

other names/site number 

2. Location 

street & number 300-312 S. Rock Street, 423 East Third Street 

city or town Little Rock 

D not for publication 

D vicinity 

state Arkansas code AR county Pulaski code 119 zip code 

3. State/Federal Agency Certification 

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended, 1 hereby certify that this cg) nomination 0 
•·equest for determination of eligibility meets the doc umentation standards for registering properties in the National Register of Historic 

laces and meets the procedural and professional requirements set for in 36 CFR Part 60. In my opinion, the property cg) meets 0 
does not meet the National Register criteria. I recommend that this property be considered significant 
0 nationally 0 statewide locally. (See con ti nu sheet for additional comments. 

~ .3 
Signature of certifying official/Title 

Arkansas Historic Preservation Program 
State or Federal agency and bureau 

In my opinion, the property 0 meets 0 does not meet the National Register criteria. (0 See Continuation sheet for additional 
comments.) 

Signature of certifying official/Title 

State or Federal agency and bureau 

4. National Park Service Certification 

I hereby certify that the property is : 
D entered in the National Register. 

0 See continuation sheet 

D determined eligible for the 
National Register. 

0 See continuation sheet 
D determined not eligible for the 

National Register. 

D removed from the National 
Register. 

other, (explain:) 

Date 

Signature of the Keeper 

72201 

Date of Action 



TufNut Historic District 
Name of Property 

5. Classification 

Ownership of Property 
(Check as many boxes as apply) 

~ private 

D public-local 

D public-State 

D public-Federal 

Category of Property 
(Check only one box) 

D building( s) 

~ district 

D site 

D structure 

D object 

Name of related multiple property listing 
(Enter "N/ A" if property is not part of a multiple property listing.) 

NIA 

6. Function or Use 

Historic Functions 
(Enter categories from instructions) 

Manufacturing Facility 

Warehouse 

Wholesale/Retail 

7. Descri tion 

Architectural Classification 
(Enter categories from instructions) 

20'h Century Vernacular Commercial/Industrial 

Narrative Description 

Pulaski County, AR 
County and State 

Number of Resources within Property 
(Do not include previous ly li sted resources in count.) 

Contributing Noncontributing 

2 

2 
~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 

buildings 

sites 

structures 

objects 

Total 

Number of Contributing resources previously listed 
in the National Register 

NIA 

Current Functions 
(Enter categories from instructions) 

Vacant 

Materials 
(Enter categories from instructions) 

foundation Concrete 

Walls Brick 

0 

~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 

Concrete 

roof Tar/build-up 

Other 

(Describe the historic and cun-ent condition of the property on one or more continuation sheets .) 
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8. Statement of Significance 

wlicable National Register Criteria 
k "x" in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the property 

r National Register listing.) 

~ A Property is associated with events that have made 
a significant contribution to the broad patterns of 
our history. 

0 B Property is associated with the lives of persons 
significant in our past. 

~ C Property embodies the distinctive characteristics 
of a type, period, or method of construction or 
represents the work of a master, or possesses 
high artistic values, or represents a significant and 
distinguishable entity whose components lack 
individual distinction. 

0 D Property has yielded, or is likely to yield, 
information important in prehistory or history. 

Criteria Considerations 
(Mark "x" in all the boxes that apply.) 

Property is: 
A owned by a religious institution or used for 

religious purposes. 

0 B removed from its original location. 

0 C. birthplace or grave of a historical figure of outstanding 
importance. 

0 D a cemetery. 

0 E a reconstructed building, object, or structure. 

0 F a commemorative property 

0 G less than 50 years of age or achieved significance 
within the past 50 years. 

Narrative Statement of Significance 
(Expla in the significance of the property on one or more continuation sheets.) 

9. Major Bibliographical References 

Bibliography 

Pulaski County, AR 
County and State 

Levels of Significance (local, state, national) 

Local 

Areas of Significance (Enter categories from instructions) 

Commerce/Trade 
Industry/Manufacturing 
Architecture 

Period of Significance 
1922-1950 

Significant Dates 
1922, 1927, 1940, 1946 

Significant Person (Complete ifCiiterion 8 is marked) 

Cultural Affiliation (Complete if Criterion Dis marked) 

Architect/Builder 
Unknown 

(Cite the books, articles, and other sources used in preparing this form on one or more continuation sheets.) 

Previous documentation on file (NPS): 
0 preliminary determination of individual listing (36 

CFR 67) has been requested 
0 previously listed in the National Register 

Previously determined eligible by the National 
Register 

designated a National Historic Landmark 
0 recorded by Historic American Buildings Survey 

# 

0 recorded by Historic American Engineering 
Record # 

Primary location of additional data: 
IZJ State Historic Preservation Office 
0 Other State Agency 
0 Federal Agency 
0 Local Goverrunent 
D University 
D Other 
Name of repository: 
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Name of Property 

10. Geographical Data 

Acreage of Property Less than one acre 

UTM References 
(Place additional UTM references on a continuation sheet.) 

15 
Zone 

2 15 

567068 
Easting 

567170 

3884840 
Northing 

3844820 

Verbal Boundary Description 
(Describe the boundaries of the property on a continuation sheet.) 

Pulaski County, AR 
County and State 

3 
Zone Easting Northing 

4 

D See continuation sheet 

Lots 4, 5, 6, Block 16 of Pope's Addition to the City of Little Rock, AR and Lots 10, 11 , 12 of Block 38, Original City of Little 
Rock, AR 
Boundary Justification 
The boundaries contain the buildings historically associated with the TufNut Company. 

11. Form Prepared By 

name/title Sandra Taylor Smith, Consultant I Ralph S. Wilcox, National Register & Survey Coordinator 

organization Arkansas Historic Preservation Program date March 5, 2003 

street & number 1500 Tower Building, 323 Center Street telephone (501) 324-9787 

city or town Little Rock state AR zip code 

Additional Documentation 
Submit the following items with the completed form : 

Continuation Sheets 

Maps 
A USGS map (7.5 or 15 minute series) indicating the property's location 

A Sketch map for hi~toric districts and properties having large acreage or numerous resources. 

Photographs 

Representative black and white photographs of the property. 

Additional items 
(Check with the SHPO or FPO for any additional items.) 

Property Owner 
(Complete this item at the request of SHPO or FPO.) 

name 

street & number 

city or town 

telephone 

state zip code 

72201 

Paperwork Reduction Act Statement: This information is being collected for applications to the National Register of Historic Places to nominate properties for 
listing or determine eligibility for listing, to list properties, and to amend existing listing. Response to this request is required to obtain a benefit in accordance 
with the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended (16 U.S.C. 470 et seq.) 

Estimated Burden Statement: Public reporting burden for this form is estimated to average 18. J hours per response including time for reviewing instructions, 
gathering and maintaining data, and completing and reviewing the form. Direct comments regarding this burden estimate or any aspect of this form to the Chief, 
Administrative Services Division, National Park Service, P. 0. Box 37127, Washington, DC 20013-7127; and the Office of Management and Budget, Paperwork 
Reductions Projects (I 024-0018), Washington, DC 20303 . 
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Summary 
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County and State 

The TufNut Historic District consists of two brick and steel-reinforced concrete buildings, both constructed in the 1920s and 
located one block apart. The TufNut-Sterling-Dailey Building is located at 300-312 S. Rock Street and was constructed in 1922. 
The Little Rock Tent and Awning Building, located at 423 East Third Street was constructed in 1927. The 1920s block of both 
buildings are two-stories . Each building has a significant addition dating from the 1940s. The TufNut Historic District buildings 
are the best surviving examples of the type of continually evolving patterns of commercial/industrial development in the eastern 
section of downtown Little Rock during the period prior to 1950. The buildings represent the era from 1920 to 1950 which saw 
the development of certain "new" commercial forms during the 1920s followed by a pattern of secondary growth and expansion 
during the 1940s using compatible yet more modern building forms. 

Elaboration 

The two buildings which comprise the TufNut Historic District in downtown Little Rock represent the once thriving commercial­
industrial district which developed in the blocks surrounding the buildings in the 1920s. Additions to both buildings in the 1940s 

present the evolving development of the growth and expansion of the area as an industrial/manufacturing/warehouse district. The 
ufNut-Sterling-Dailey Building at 300-312 S. Rock Street and the Little Rock Tent & Awning-TufNut Building at 423 East 

Third Street are large brick commercial-industrial buildings located one block apart. Original construction of the S. Rock Street 
building was in 1922, while the E. Third Street building was constructed in 1927. Significant additions were made to both 
buildings in the 1940s and are representative of the use of modern building forms compatible with the 1920s presentation of the 
buildings. 

Both buildings occupy a full Y. of their city block and present a significant historic presence in their surroundings. The character of 
the surrounding blocks derives from its development in the 1920s as a commercial/industrial district, as the business district in 
Little Rock began to move west. Prior to 1913 the commercial center of Little Rock centered on East Markham Street, three blocks 
to the north of the location of the TufNut Historic District. The original commercial district extended south only two blocks, with 
an adjacent residential and small business neighborhood. During the prosperity of the 1920s Little Rock's business center 
expanded to the west. The East Markham Street (East Markham Street Historic District NR 05-05-99) area quickly evolved into a 
wholesale/warehouse commercial district. The Terminal Building (NR 04-29-82) and the Fones Brothers Building (although 
significantly altered from its original appearance) are the only other large commercial/industrial buildings remaining in this once 
thriving commercial section of Little Rock. Significant decline and alteration of the neighborhood began with construction of 
Interstate 30 through its eastern edge in the early 1960s. Sporadic construction of motels and service stations catering to the 
interstate occrnTed in the 1960s and 1970s. Wholesale demolition of historic buildings in the area did not decline until the mid 
1990s when redevelopment of this eastern section of downtown Little Rock began. 

300-312 S. Rock Street 
The TufNut-Sterling-Dailey Building at 300-312 S. Rock Street is a three-story brick and steel-reinforced concrete building 
constructed c.1922 for the TufNut Garment Manufacturing Company. The south one-half of the current building is the original, 
1922 portion, while the northern one-half of the building was added in 1946. 

photograph of the 300-312 S. Rock Street building in 1927 reveals that the original portion of the building 's fa\:ade (east) 
1ains largely unaltered. The front or eastern elevation of the 1922 portion of the building is symmetrically divided into four 

ays. Pairs oflarge multiple-pane awning windows are located on each floor of the four bays. The principal entrance to the 
building is located in the second bay from the north. A gable roof supported by wood posts has been added to denote the entrance. 
The northernmost bay of the 1922 building's front (east), which contains the building's original elevator, features one twelve-light 
awning window on each story. A decorative parapet panel rises above the roofline on the end bays of the front or east elevation of 
the 1922 portion of the building. 
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An addition to the north side of the building in 1946 virtually doubled the size of the TufNut-Sterling-Dailey Building. This three­
story addition was constmcted of steel-reinforced concrete with the exterior faced in brick. The 1946 addition features fifteen-pane 
awning windows similar to original windows on the 1922 portion of the building. 

The north elevation of the building is that of the three-story 1946 addition. Fourteen awning windows with eighteen panes span the 
width of the north elevation on each of the three floors. The front (east) of the 1946 portion projects slightly from the remaining 
six bays on the north elevation that are denoted by brick pilasters with concrete cap bands. On rear (west) elevation of the 1946 
addition the ground floor is recessed and supported by square concrete columns providing access to a concrete loading dock. A 
square elevator shaft rises above the three-story building on the rear (north) end of the original 1922 portion of the building on the 
west. The southern end of the rear (west) elevation is the original 1922 building, featuring multi-pane awning windows. A small 
one-story flat roof concrete block building on the west side of the adjacent alley is not associated with the Tuf Nut-Sterling-Dailey 
Building. 

The south elevation is the 1922 building, which is seven bays wide, has pairs of metal sixteen-pane awning windows in each bay on 
the third story. Windows on the first floor and some on the second story of the building have been concealed by constmction, in 
1966, of an L-shaped, one story strip office building which abuts the southern elevation of the building. 

A 1927 photograph of the original building reveals that this portion appears much as it did with the exception of the replacement of 
the original suspended flat roof canopy over the main entry on S. Rock Street by gable roof entry porch. Photographs of the 
building in 1948 and 1956 indicate it appears much as it did after constmction of the addition in 1946. 

423 E. Third Street 
One block directly east of the TufNut-Sterling-Dailey Building is a similar appearing commercial-industrial building which was 
constructed in 1927 for the Little Rock Tent & Awning Company. The two-story building with flat roof is of brick constmction 
with steel posts. In 1940 an L-shaped three story addition of steel-reinforced concrete was constmcted along the west and south 
elevations. The east end, or northern fayade, of this addition is faced in dark red brick as on the original building and features cast 
concrete details on pilasters, window ledges and along the"roofparapet mimicking detail on the original portion of the building. 
Both the original building and the 1940 addition rest on a cast concrete foundation. 

The 1927 portion of the building on the front (north) is two-stories and defined by six bays denoted by brick pilasters with cast 
concrete bases and caps. The front (north) of the Little Rock Tent & Awning- TufNut Building features the main entry in the 
easternmost bay at the corner of the building. The wide door opening is surrounded by cast concrete. 

Pairs of twenty-pane metal awning windows with a center six-pane opening section are located on the first floor of the front (north) 
of the Little Rock Tent & Awning-TufNut Building. Second and third story windows are smaller, but are similar awning windows. 
An L-shaped addition constructed in 1940 wraps around the south and west elevations of the original 1927 building. On the front 
(east) of this addition, features from the 1927 building such as dark red brick, brick pilasters with concrete bases and caps defining 
bays, and multi-pane metal awning windows were repeated. Although the north end of the 1940 addition was carefully constmcted 
to provide continuity with the original building, it is three stories rather than the original building' s two stories. 

The east elevation of the building contains two loading bays with concrete piers on the first floor. The majority of this elevation 
the 1927 building dark red brick facing but with less ornamentation than seen in the modest detailing on the front (north). The eas 
end of the 1940 addition features a door opening onto a small iron balcony on the second and third floors. 

The rear (west) elevation is part of the three-story L-shaped addition constmcted in 1940. On the north end of this elevation, dark 
red brick faces the corner bay and each floor features a set of multi-pane metal awning windows and small entry with iron balcony 
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and stairs, providing continuity with the brick faced front (north). Walls on the remaining portions of the rear (west) elevation are 
cast concrete with pairs of fifteen-pane metal awning windows in each of its six bays. 

The south elevation of the building is a wing of the L-shaped 1940 addition. It features pairs of fifteen-pane metal awning windows 
on it third floor and smaller awning windows on the second story. Three small metal windows are located on the rear portion of the 
first floor of the building's south elevation. A four story chimney shaft rises above the roofline on the rear portion of this elevation. 

Both Tuf Nut buildings occupy a full Y. of their city block and present a significant historic presence in their surroundings. 
Redevelopment begun in the 1990s has resulted in the evolution of this eastern area of downtown Little Rock into a thriving 
entertainment and retail district. Construction of a new Federal Post Office, one block south of the TufNut Buildings, and planned 
construction of several multi-story office buildings continue the area 's evolvement. The William J. Clinton Presidential Library, 
under construction a few blocks to the east, will solidify the area's new sense of place and time in Little Rock's history. 
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The TufNut Historic District in downtown Little Rock consists of two large historic commercial/industrial buildings constructed in 
the 1920s. The TufNut-Sterling-Dailey Building at 300-312 S. Rock Street was constructed in 1922 and housed the TufNut 
Garment Manufacturing Company until the early 1930s. The Little Rock Tent & Awning-TufNut Building, located one block east 
at 423 East Third Street, was constructed in 1927 and was the location of the TufNut Garment Manufacturing Co. from 1931 until 
the company closed in the 1970s. These buildings are representative of the development of a commercial/industrial district in the 
eastern section of downtown Little Rock in the early twentieth century as the area evolved through its peak in the 1950s. 

Elaboration 

The City of Little Rock 's roots are derived from a small outcropping of rock on the south bank of the Arkansas River. This 
landmark "little rock" (NR listed 10-06-70), is located at the foot of what is now Rock Street and was the focus of business activity 
as the site began development in the early 1820s. As Little Rock grew into Arkansas' capitol and largest city, the business district 
remained concentrated in an area of a few blocks near the steamboat landing on the river below the "little rock". Until well after 
the Civil War, this area remained the business center of Little Rock. 

As a result of the corning of the railroad to central Arkansas in the 1870s, the business center of Little Rock grew to the west. The 
original business district on the river quickly adjusted to this change and began to develop into a commercial/industrial center. 
During the economic boom of the 1920s, this commercial/industrial growth spread to the blocks south. Although the original 
commercial center of Little Rock was located in the blocks just north of the TufNut Historic District, the blocks on which these 
two large industrial/manufacturing buildings are located contained residences until the early 1920s. 

The growth of Little Rock in the early twentieth century paralleled the economic prosperity of the nation. This nationwide 
prosperity was reflected in the construction of many new commercial buildings in downtown Little Rock, some of which were the 
city's first "skyscrapers". During the 1920s technology became an ever-more-important part of daily life. Part of the "new" 
technology at this time was the use of steel framework in the construction of large industrial buildings. Both buildings in the Tuf 
Nut Historic District utilized steel in their original construction in the 1920s and in additions made to the buildings in the 1940s. 
Exteriors were straightforward and functional, featuring many windows, the arrangement of which gives the buildings their 
architectural character. 

TufNut-Sterling-Dailey Building- 300-312 S. Rock Street 
The building located at the corner of East Third and South Rock Streets was constructed in two sections almost twenty years apart. 
The southernmost portion of the building was built in 1922 for a company called West-Nelson Manufacturing Co. The West­
Nelson Company manufactured garments and was owned by Little Rock residents Oscar D . West, President, and Robert A. Nelson, 
Secretary-Treasurer. By 1927 the company had changed and been given a new name - The TufNut Garment Manufacturing 
Company, but remained in the building at 300-312 S. Rock Street. President and owner of the TufNut Company was Robert 
Nelson, former co-owner of the West-Nelson Garn1ent Manufacturing Company. 

A full page advertisement in the Arkansas Gazette on October 10, 1927, featured a photograph of the TufNut Company's buildinf' 
at 300-312 S. Rock Street. The advertisement stated that the company conducted business in ten states and employed 400 people 
with a payroll of over $300,000. The company boasted that a large percentage of their employees were stockholders in the 
business. The Tuf Nut Garment Manufacturing Company claimed to have been established for several years in the 1927 ad. 
Because there is no record of any TufNut Company prior to 1927, it appears the owner, Robert Nelson, counted the years he was 
an owner in the West-Nelson Garment Manufacturing Company. 
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The TufNut Garment Manufacturing Company produced overalls, pants, shirts and "autoals" for the working man. The garments 
were made of 100% cotton, which the company proudly stated was purchased from mills in the South. Late in 1927 the TufNut 
Company opened a second factory in McComb, Mississippi, for manufacture of shirts only. 

However successful the first few years of business, Robert Nelson's tenure as president and sole owner of the TufNut Company 
was short-lived. In late 1929 substantial interests in the TufNut Company were purchased by brothers J. R. Alexander and Robert 
A. Alexander, plantation owners and businessmen from nearby Scott, Arkansas. The business continued to operate at the same 
location at 300-312 S. Rock Street. 

The TufNut Garment Manufacturing Company was purchased by the Little Rock Tent & Awning Co. in 1930 and was relocated to 
a building at 423 E. Third Street, one block east. From 1930 to 1935 the first floor of the S. Rock Street building was occupied by 
a radio equipment manufacturing company and the second and third floors were occupied by Sterling Stores, Inc. as offices and 
warehouse for the novelty store chain. 

erling Stores, Inc. expanded their operations and occupied the entire S. Rock Street building by the late 1930s. Sterling Stores 
constructed a large three-story addition to the north side of the building in 1946. Sterling Stores, Inc. remained in the building until 
the early 1960s. For a few years afterward, Pfeifer's of Arkansas Department Store utilized a portion of the building as a service 
center. 

Dalton Dailey & Associates purchased the building at 300-312 S. Rock Street in the mid 1960s. The company specialized in office 
design and layout and sold office furniture and supplies. The Dailey's occupied the building through the mid 1990s. Dalton Dailey 
and son Jim Dailey operated the family business for over thirty years at the Rock Street location. Jim Dailey has served as Mayor 
of the City of Little Rock for over ten years. 

TufNut Building- 423 East Third Street 
At the time the advertisement for the TufNut Company appeared in the 1927 Arkansas Gazette newspaper, another locally owned 
manufacturing company was constructing a building just one block to the east at 423 East Third Street. The business, Little Rock 
Tent & Awning, had outgrown their former space on Main Street and was constructing a large brick manufacturing building to 
house their expanded business. 

Little Rock Tent & Awning Company was owned by local businessmen Vernon Jackson, President, Robin Nichols, Vice-President, 
and James Simpson, Secretary-Treasurer. The business which manufactured tents, custom made awnings, blinds, and other window 
fittings, had begun in 191 7. 

In 1930 the owners of Little Rock Tent & Awning bought the TufNut Garment Manufacturing Company, relocated it to their 
building at 423 E. Third Street and combined the two businesses' manufacturing production. A three-story L-shaped addition was 
made to the building in 1940 as business operations expanded. The Little Rock Tent & Awning Co. and the TufNut Garment 
Manufacturing Company operated in the building at 423 E. Third Street until the mid-1960s when the Little Rock Tent & Awning 
Company moved to a new location further south in the downtown. The TufNut Garment Manufacturing Company remained in the 
· •1ilding at 423 E. Third until the late 1970s when the company was closed. The building was thereafter used as a warehouse by an 

tlustrial supply business located nearby, then vacated. 

Significance 
Both buildings located in the TufNut Historic District are architecturally representative of the development and growth of a 
commercial/industrial district in downtown Little Rock. Prior to 1920 the blocks south of Little Rock's conunercial center 
contained a mix of residences and small retail establishments. The only large commercial building was located at S. Rock and E. 
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Third Streets where an ice cream factory once stood in the now vacant lots between the two TufNut Buildings. The decade of the 
1920s saw significant development in the areas south of Little Rock 's commercial center. This era produced a number of 
industrial/manufacturing/warehouse buildings in this area of downtown, very little of which remains. The Fones Building at the 
corner of Rock and East Second Street, constructed in 1920 and the Terminal Warehouse Building at 500 E. Markham (NR listed 
04-29-82) was constructed in 1926 are the only other remaining large commercial/industrial buildings in the area. Construction of 
U.S. Interstate 30 on the eastern edge of the area and subsequent development of service stations and motels distinctly changed the 
nature of the district. By the early 1990s development from the 1960s had been razed, leaving expanses of vacant blocks in the 
area. In the late 1990s a row of townhouses constructed in the 1970s were razed in the blocks south of the TufNut Buildings for 
construction of a new downtown post office. Additional new multi-story office building construction is changing the character of 
the area as it evolves into an urban live and work neighborhood. Construction of the William Jefferson Clinton Presidential 
Library a few blocks to the east is scheduled for completion in 2004. 

The vernacular industrial/manufacturing design of both TufNut buildings' original form in the 1920s and additions in the 1940s 
was intended to be sturdy and functional rather than stylish. Bands of large multiple-pane awning windows span the elevations of 
both buildings. Only minimal decorative detailing is utilized on either of the buildings and their additions. The 1922 section oft 
Rock Street building features a decorative roof parapet, while the 1927 portion of the E. Third Street building is decorated with 
bands of cast concrete on the parapet and window ledges contrasting with the dark red brick. 

The TufNut Historic District, consisting of the TufNut-Sterling-Dailey Building at 300-312 S. Rock Street and the Little Rock 
Tent & Awning-TufNut Building at 423 East Third Street is being nominated to the National Register of Historic Places under 
Criterion A with local significance for its association with the development of manufacturing industry in downtown Little Rock's 
east side and under Criterion C with local significance as two of the few remaining examples of commercial/industrial buildings 
constructed in the area in the prosperous years of the 1920s, evolving commercially and architecturally with additions in the 1940s. 
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